
MINUTES OF THE June 1, 2023 
MEETING OF THE 

WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
CAPITAL FUNDING PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
June 1, 2023 
 
1. Opening Items 
 
1.01 Call to Order 

 
The meeting of the Capital Funding Protection Committee (CFPC) of the Board of Trustees 
(BOT) was called to order at 4:01 p.m. at the Washoe County School District Central 
Administration Building, 425 East Ninth Street in Reno, Nevada. 
 
1.02 Roll Call 
 
Chair Dave Solaro, Vice Chair Justin Ivory, and Committee members Charlene Bybee, 
Paul Anderson, Clara Andriola, Andre Diss, Elise Bunkowski, and Chris Cobb were 
present. Committee members Devon Reese, Miguel Martinez, and Jeanne Herman were 
absent. Staff Liaison Adam Searcy and staff were also present. 

 
3.01 Public Comment- General public comment was moved to the beginning of the 
meeting. 

 
Elizabeth Smith, President of the Washoe County School District Board of Trustees, 
addressed the Capital Funding Protection Committee (CFPC) and thanked them for their 
service on behalf of the entire Board of Trustees.  She stated she appreciated the 
transparency and processes the committee maintains to better serve the district. 
 
Dr. Diane Nicolet, Vice President of the Washoe County School District Board of 
Trustees, thanked the CFPC for their important work and expressed appreciation from 
all the Trustees. She noted that the committee balances their expertise with making 
tough decisions and moving forward. 
 
Pablo Nava-Duran thanked the committee for their service even when facing tough 
decisions. He spoke about the importance of updating and/or replacing schools in older 
neighborhoods as some schools are more than 60 years old.  He feels newer schools 
best serve the students and are in the best interest of the community, residents, and 
students.   
 
2. Items for Presentation, Discussion, and/or Possible Action 
 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 2 
 

2.01 Approval of the Minutes of the April 7, 2023, Meeting of the Capital 
Funding Protection Committee 
 
It was moved by Mr. Anderson and seconded by Ms. Bybee that the Capital Funding 
Protection Committee approves the minutes from the April 7, 2023, Capital 
Funding Protection Committee meeting.  The result of the vote was Unanimous: 
Pass (Yea: Paul Anderson, Clara Andriola, Elise Bunkowski, Charlene Bybee, Chris Cobb, 
Andrew Diss, Justin Ivory, and Dave Solaro) Final Resolution: Motion Carries. 
 
2.02 Presentation, Discussion, and Possible Action to accept the revised Fiscal 
Year 2024-2028, Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan, as amended by the 
Washoe County School District Board of Trustees at their April 25, 2023, 
regular meeting. 

 
Mr. Searcy explained that the Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) previously 
approved by the CFPC went to the Board of Trustees (BOT) in April 2023 and was 
revised at that time. It is required to go back to the CFPC for their approval. The CIP 
needs to be finalized by August 31, 2023. 

 
Mr. Mathers told the committee they have three changes to present for approval. Two 
of the changes were technical items. The first item presented was the change to include 
a donation of $35 million from the Dave and Cheryl Duffield Foundation to Incline High 
School for improvements at the school. Previously, the donation was not reflected in the 
CIP. A new line item under revenues was added for Donations on page one of the CIP 
to reflect the $35 million donation. On page two of the CIP under expenditures, a line 
for Incline High School Improvements was added. Mr. Diss asked for details on the 
donation. Mr. Searcy explained that the Duffield Foundation approached the principal of 
Incline High School and expressed the desire to have culinary and other Career and 
Technical Education (CTE) spaces added to the school. The foundation worked with the 
principal and entered into an agreement to provide funding for the improvements. 

 
The second technical change to the CIP involved the planned sale of rollover bonds 
budgeted at $100 million in the current fiscal year. $60 million of that figure was moved 
to fiscal year 2023-2024. This change results in a beginning fund balance $60 million 
less than was presented to the committee in April and an increase in revenues under 
Rollover Bond Issuance for the fiscal year 2023-2024. The net change is in Total 
Revenues is $0. 

 
The third change proposed comes from a revised motion by the BOT in April. In the 
Five-Year CIP originally presented to the CPFC, the Administration/Central Services 
Offices project was slated to begin in years three and four. The BOT made a revised 
motion to accelerate the project to years two and three and return the revised CIP to 
the CFPC for acceptance. There was discussion by the committee. 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 3 
 

 
Mr. Cobb asked if this change would impact the revitalization and facility modernization 
projects of inner-city schools. Mr. Searcy replied that it would not change the timing of 
those projects. Ms. Bunkowski asked if the District would be keeping the current 
Administration building lot. Mr. Searcy explained that it has not been determined yet if 
a new building would be built on the current lot or built elsewhere. Other options would 
be remodeling another building elsewhere. If the current lot were sold, revenues from 
the sale would go toward the Administration building fund. Mr. Ivory asked how old the 
current administration building is in comparison with the oldest schools. Mr. Searcy 
answered that the administration building is nearly 60 years old, and the oldest schools 
are 60 plus years old. He added that they have the resources to modernize old schools, 
but it will take years to execute the facilities modernization plan. Mr. Ivory theorized 
that they could possibly be working on one old school and the administration building, 
rather than working on updating two old schools. Ms. Bunkowski expressed the opinion 
that there are more pressing concerns than the administration building at this time. Mr. 
Solaro asked for clarification that the only actual funding being approved at this time is 
for year one (2023-2024) and that the rest is just a plan. Mr. Mathers answered yes. 
Mr. Ivory asked if there is any advantage to pushing the Admin/Central Services Offices 
project up one year. Mr. Searcy explained that he was not advocating for or against 
moving the project up. He noted that the BOT stated they would accept non-approval 
by the CFPC of their suggested revision to the CIP. Mr. Cobb added that, because they 
are not funding years two through five at this time, they can reassess and vote on the 
plan next year. Ms. Bybee stated that she felt the Admin/Central Services Offices 
project was where it should be on the Five-Year CIP and that schools should be the 
current priority. She added that this could be re-evaluated in the coming years. 

 
Chair Solano introduced Clara Andriola, the newest member of the CFPC. 
 
It was moved by Mr. Solaro and seconded by Ms. Bunkowski that the CFPC does not 
accept the Board of Trustees proposed revision to the Five-Year Capital 
Improvement Program in years 2024-2028. The result of the vote was split 7:1 
(Yea: Paul Anderson, Clara Andriola, Elise Bunkowski, Charlene Bybee, Chris Cobb, 
Andrew Diss, and Justin Ivory; Nay: Dave Solaro) Final Resolution: Motion Carries. 
 
2.03 Presentation and Discussion of the Fiscal Year 2024, Information 
Technology Device Refresh Plan, in the amount of $4,700,000 
 
Mr. Searcy explained that that the Information Technology Device Refresh Plan is a new 
element of the CIP. 
 
Mr. Turner stated that the refresh plan aligns with the District Strategic Plan and was 
proposed in order to solve technology inequities seen throughout the district as current 
funding varies by school program and does not allow for all sites to have the same type 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 4 
 

of tech. He explained that the plan has three goals: to make access to devices more 
equitable, buy all laptop devices centrally to save money, and to remove the 
responsibility from principals for procuring computer devices for teachers. Currently all 
schools have devices equal to 80% of enrollment and all supported devices are six 
years old or newer. Through a federal grant last year, approximately 4000 teachers and 
4000 other staff members got new laptops. The funding for devices came from ESSER 
federal pandemic relief in fiscal year 2021, property tax capital revenues in fiscal years 
2022 and 2023, and grant funding for teacher devices in fiscal year 2023. Any leftover 
funding is dedicated to iPads used by kindergarten through second grade students 
equal to 30% of enrollment. Mr. Turner went over all the devices purchased and e-
wasted in 2022 and 2023 as well as the estimated number and cost of devices to be 
refreshed in 2023-2024. There were questions from the committee. 
 
Ms. Bybee asked about the large number of devices e-wasted in 2023. Mr. Turner 
explained that a lot of devices were from 2013 and before and no longer supported 
upgrades to the user system. Mr. Cobb asked if, instead of e-wasting, devices could be 
given to students who don’t have them at home. Mr. Turner explained that the tools 
and applications are not upgradable. Mr. Ivory asked how much it costs to e-waste a 
device. Mr. Turner replied that the cost can vary but is often cost-neutral to the District 
because after data destruction is ensured, devices may be repurposed and sold. Mr. 
Ivory noted that at the last meeting they approved $4.5 million for IT device refresh 
and asked why it is now $4.7 million. Mr. Searcy replied that the CFPC approved the 5-
Year CIP which is an allocation plan. Each project on the plan must come back to the 
committee individually and receive approval. Mr. Ivory noted that teacher laptops 
originally came out of principal discretionary funds that come out of General Fund 
money and asked why it now falls Capital Fund money to refresh teacher computers. 
Mr. Turner explained that teacher computers relied on discretionary money based on a 
principal’s ability to pay for computers and their own prioritization. The General Fund 
budget is constrained to the point that some principals are not able to buy teacher 
computers and they want to ensure that all teachers have access to modern computing 
technology. Mr. Searcy responded that teacher computers are an eligible expense for 
capital resources and are being funded out of property tax revenues, rather than WC-1 
revenues. Mr. Ivory expressed concern that more expenditures that currently come out 
of the General Fund could be moved to Capital Funds and that paying for teacher 
computers out of Capital Funds removes the incentive for staff to seek federal monies. 
Chair Solaro noted that the question of “what is capital?” is a discussion for a future 
time. 
 
Don Angotti, Associate Chief, spoke about the academic benefits of computer devices 
and explained how the devices are used in schools. He noted that in his experience 
working in schools there were schools that had a lot of devices. In other schools there 
were not enough devices, and the refresh program has been a “game changer” for 
those schools. In elementary schools the devices are on carts with charging capability 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 5 
 

and students can check devices out. In the middle and high schools there are laptop 
carts in the core and elective classes. The refresh program provides operable computers 
to all students. Benefits include access to digital-based curriculum, access to up-to-date 
information for research, increased collaborative opportunities, personalized instruction, 
higher levels of student engagement, and opportunities for teachers to develop 
interactive lessons. He concluded that the advantages refresh programs are providing 
are functional/usable devices in classrooms, academic benefits in teaching and learning, 
and security benefits to keep students safe. There were questions for the committee. 
 
Ms. Bunkowski asked about ensuring that the devices are used for enrichment and not 
a supplementation. Mr. Angotti replied that there is a lot of conversation at the principal 
level with teachers to ensure that there is active engagement with the use of devices. 
Ms. Bunkowski asked how they are keeping up with curriculum changes at the higher 
level to ensure that students are becoming proficient in applications like Word and Excel 
to better enter the workforce. Mr. Angotti explained that department leads develop 
curriculum with staff, and opportunities are provided within the coursework to use the 
technology. Ms. Bunkowski added that students need to come out of school proficient in 
Word and Excel.  
 
Mr. Anderson asked if they could look at options other than e-wasting, such as wiping 
devices of data and offering them as “new to you” computers. Mr. Turner responded 
that organizations in the community have donated devices to the District. If they don’t 
match District specifications, they are given to the Reno Cigar Lions Club who then 
reimage the devices and make them safe to donate to local families. Mr. Turner added 
that the District does not have the personnel to repurpose devices internally, but they 
could possibly identify usable devices slated for e-waste that could be donated to the 
Lions Club. 
 
2.04 Presentation and Discussion of the Fiscal Year 2024 Capital Renewal 
Plan in the amount of $50,000,000 
 
Tami Zimmerman, Chief Facilities Management Officer, went over the proposed Fiscal 
Year 2024 (FY24) Capital Renewal Program. She told the committee that Capital 
Projects has bid 91 projects and spent over $24 million over the past fiscal year. The 
Capital Renewal Plan is created using the Facility Condition Index System (FCIS) that 
determines the highest need areas. There is also input from the Safe and Healthy 
Schools Commission that is considered. Ms. Zimmerman went over some of the highest 
prioritized projects that include replacement of gym bleachers containing lead, 
installations of washer and dryers for custodial staff, replacement of the Hidden Valley 
Elementary School fire alarm system, replacement of the Glen Duncan Elementary 
School steel playground equipment, replacement of theater lighting, conversion of the 
Stead Elementary School boiler room, and upgrades to the safety and security projects. 
Safety and security projects District-wide include completion of single point of entry, 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 6 
 

emergency signage, and secure perimeter fencing modifications, as well as some Safe 
and Healthy Schools Commission priorities. Ms. Zimmerman added that there are line 
items for program contingency, construction management support, and program 
administration. The total for the plan is $50 million with the largest portions going to 
Mechanical/Electrical/Plumbing and Carpentry. 
 
Ms. Bybee commented that she sits on the Safe and Healthy Schools Commission and 
noted that emergency signage is numbering the doors of a school for emergency 
responders. She asked if the funds for emergency signage in the plan will complete the 
project at all school levels. Ms. Zimmerman confirmed that it would. 
 
Ms. Andrioloa spoke about the condition of the field at Reed High School. She asked 
where fields would fall under funding. Ms. Zimmerman explained that any type of work 
on fields would fall under the Grounds section of the plan. She added that they have 
worked with Reed staff and are working on solutions with the District grounds department 
and the Reed groundskeepers. 
 
Mr. Cobb asked about $5.3 million of the plan for paving replacement and repair and 
what dictates where repairs will be done. Ms. Zimmerman replied they go through the 
Pavement Condition Index (PCI) ratings to determine what gets done. She added that 
they have a list of repairs and replacements since the Capital Renewal Plan was created. 
 
Mr. Anderson asked about the Capital Renewal FY24 Energy Efficiency Improvements. 
Ms. Zimmerman explained that these are small projects and improvements to save 
electricity and water. 

 
 

2.05 Presentation and Discussion to provide updates on the construction 
phase progress and final recommended budgetary allocation for the Debbie 
Smith Career and Technical Education Academy High School in the Amount of 
$43,500,000 
 
Tami Zimmerman, Chief Facilities Management Officer, updated the CFPC on the status 
of the Debbie Smith CTE Academy project. In February of 2022, a final construction phase 
budget of $125 million was approved. In May of 2022, bids came in at $147 million, 
approximately 31% over budget. In June of 2022, a phased approach to the project was 
approved allowing construction to begin in 2022 but delaying the opening to August 2025. 
She explained that the phased approach allowed them to do some value engineering and 
take some of the risk out for the District and contractors. The phased approach required 
rebidding of all scopes of work and the bid for Demolition was awarded at $7.6 million in 
October of 2022 instead of $15 million that was bid in June of 2022. The Site and Utility 
Package was rebid in January 2023 and awarded at $31.5 million in March of 2023. The 
demolition and site and utilities phase of the project have moved forward. New Building 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 7 
 

and Existing Building Renovations was rebid in April of 2023 and awarded at $114.9 
million. The bid for Landscaping has stayed consistently at $2.5 million. As of June 2023, 
the total budget for the construction phase, furniture, fixtures & equipment (FF&E) and 
construction professional services is now $168.5 million, requiring an additional funding 
approval of $43.5 million. She added that this is an estimate with built in contingency, as 
well as an escalation clause for materials escalation with procurement and submittal 
schedules. The phased approach removes the time constraints from contractor bids, 
taking a lot of risk out of the process. The committee asked questions. 
 
Mr. Cobb asked how FF&E remained at $8 million. Ms. Zimmerman replied they still feel 
this amount is sufficient to do all the FF&E, noting that much of the CTE equipment is in 
the contract with Q&D Construction because it must be installed. 
 
Mr. Ivory commented that he had hopes the cost would come in less by taking a phased 
approach. He noted that the scope of the project was reduced by eliminating the Board 
Room, and even then, the estimated cost has gone up $26 million. Ms. Zimmerman 
explained that there is materials escalation built into the budget that is above the base 
estimate from Q&D and they may not need to use all of it. Mr. Ivory asked if the bid 
numbers they are scrubbing now are going to be the final numbers and commented that 
he would like to ensure that this project doesn’t have to come back for additional funding 
approval. Ms. Zimmerman replied that there is enough extra contingency built into the 
estimate to complete the current scope of the project. 
 
Ms. Bybee asked for confirmation that the CFPC did not approve $142 million in June of 
2022 because they did not have the funding at the time, so went with a phased approach. 
Ms. Zimmerman confirmed that at the time they did not have the funding approved to 
award the contract. Ms. Bybee commented on the urgent need for workforce in the 
community and the school’s role in providing that workforce. 
 
Mr. Diss asked if there is the possibility that UNR may want to utilize the field on the 
project site and asked how this would be handled. Ms. Zimmerman replied in some cases 
the District has joint use agreements with the cities of Reno and Sparks and they provide 
some help with maintenance of fields. She explained there is a lease agreement for 
District facilities and outside entities pay a fee to use them. The fee helps with 
maintenance, but the District is not allowed to profit from the fees. 

 
 
2.06 Presentation, Discussion, and Possible Action to recommend approval of 
$98,200,000 to the 2022/2023 ‘D’ Major Projects Program for projects 
throughout the District and to forward the recommendation to a future 
meeting of the Board of Trustees for approval. 

 



Minutes of the Capital Funding Protection Committee 
June 1, 2023 

Pg. 8 
 

Mr. Searcy explained this item is to recommend approval to projects in the amount of 
$98.2 million added to the original 2016 Capital Funding Initiative list of projects. This 
includes $50 million for the FY24 Capital Renewal Program, $4.7 million for the IT 
Device Refresh Program, and $43.5 for the Debbie Smith CTE Academy construction 
phase funding. There was no discussion. 

It was moved by Mr. Diss and seconded by Mr. Ivory that the CFPC recommend 
approval of $98,200,000 to the 2022/2023 ‘D’ Major Projects Program for 
projects throughout the District and forward the recommendation to a future 
meeting of the Board of Trustees for approval. (Yea: Paul Anderson, Clara 
Andriola, Elise Bunkowski, Charlene Bybee, Chris Cobb, Andrew Diss, Justin Ivory, and 
Dave Solaro) Final Resolution: Motion Carries. 
 
3. Closing Items 
 
3.02 Announcement of Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting of the Capital Funding Protection Committee would take place on 
Thursday, August 3, 2023. 
 
3.03 Adjourn Meeting 
 
There being no further business to come before the members of the Committee, Chair 
declared the meeting adjourned at 6:02 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________     
Dave Solaro, Chair 


